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A hundred and fifty years ago, in 1865, most villages had a 

blacksmithõs shop; now there are hardly any. As petrol engines 

replaced horses on roads and in the fields, smith ies closed down, or 

quite often became  garage s. Branscombe is one of the few villages 

that still have a working smithy , the Old Forge . 

 

 

The Middle Ages and after . 

Already in the Middle Ages most large villages had a smith y. In 1332 

a tax return for Devon listed 63 people with the names  ôSmythõ or 

ôFaberõ (which means ôsmithõ in Latin) of whom 59 were in rural 

areas. At that time the name was still an indicator of occupation.   

No wonder Smith has become  such a common surnam e now ! 

In Branscombe , a list of tenants in 1339 includes William le Smyth. 

He held a messuage ñ that is, a house and premises, i.e. a smithy ñ 

and a ôferlingõ of land, the standard peasant holding of about 8 

acres, but thereõs no clue as to where it was. T he village population 

was nearly what it is now, but there were  many more horses.  
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A John Smyth also was listed in 1339, among the cottagers . They 

were  the poorest villagers , often  elderly , and he  was perhaps a 

retired blacksmith, possibly Williamõs father. 

After that the only blacksmithõs name we have is John Taylor, 

unusually described  by his trade as ôblacksmithõ in the parish 

register when he married Anne Whitmore in 1656.  

 

 

 

Three smithies  

Continuous r ecords of blacksmiths in Branscombe exist from  177 5. 

At that time the Old Forge  was the only smithy, but by 1840 , as the 

population grew towards 1,000,  there were three: The Old Forge at 

Bridge, The Fountain Head smithy at Street, and a smithy at Hole 

Bottom. All three were b eside  streams. Blacksmiths need c old water 

to harden red - hot iron and to cool hot tongs.  
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The Old Forge  

 

The age of the Old Forge is uncertain. It is  a listed building, dated by 

Historic England  to the 1700s. But in 1955 Kingsley Squire reported 

that a stone had been found built into the forge inscribed  ô1580 õ, 

which is not an impossible start date.  In any case, it may be on the 

site of previous  smithies.  

The earliest picture s we have of the Old  Forge ñ aerial view s, you 

might say  ñ are on Alexander Lawõs estate map of 1793 and the 

Tithe map of 1840 . Th e notes accompanying the map s say that  the 

ôblacksmithõs shop and house and orchard õ were part of Bridge 

Farm. They stood together in a square patch bounded by the road, 

by the stream , and by the mill leat that runs past  the Old Forge  and 

under the road  towards  the Bakery.  The smithy is show n standing  by 

the road, as now, and Lawõs map also shows the thatched canopy in 

front. The eastern extensio n, where the present entrance is, was not 

added until  1865 . 
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The blacksmithõs house stood where the National Trust car park is 

now. Peter Orlando Hutchinson , Sidmouth antiquarian, paint ed the 

Old Forge about 1855 , with the blacksmithõs single- storey hou se 

showing behind it. It  is our only image of the house , which  was in 

ruin s by  the 1890s, when  photography and postcards  came along . 

 

The house  was once the farmhouse of Bridge Farm . This  was an old 

copyhold farm of 21 acres , which had grown from a smallholding 

whose tenant in  1339 was Walter atte Brygge. By 1793 it  had long 

ceased to be an independent farm . William Ford  of  Gayõs Farm 

records  using Bridge Farm fields  in his diary of 1791 . 

By 1840 Bridge Farm belonged to Williamõs brother, John Ford , who 

had bought the copyhold . In the 1800s the Fords , who  imported coal 

from South Wales for their lime kilns , became  the villageõs coal 

merchants, and they would have supplied the smithy. The 

blacksmiths at the Old Forge  remained  tenants of the Ford family 
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until the 1960s, when the National Trust became landlord, and built 

its office on the site of what had been the blacksmithõs orchard. 

 

Blacksmith families  

Parish registers show how blacksmithing ran in families. The founder 

was often an incomer, who would  rent a vacant smithy and 

sometimes married the previous blacksmithõs daughter. For a 

hundred years after 1780 two families ñ Dean and Selway ñ 

provided most of Branscombeõs blacksmiths. 

The Dean family at the Old Forge  

The Dean family were blacksmiths at Bridge in 1793 and 1840, when 

the Old Forge first appeared on maps. Here is part of the Dean 

family tree:  

  Richard Dean    md. (1781)   Rhoda Bartlett  

   (1751 - 1836)         |       (1756 - 1816)  

  from Dalwood         |  

 ññññññññññññññ |ññññññññññ 

 |     |      |  

Ellis Bartlett              Edward Bartlett         Thomas Dean  

   Dean         Dean               (1797 - 1870)  

(1787 - 1880)              (1794 - 1859)        |  

 |         |    

 |         |   

 ññññññññññññ    |  

 |          |            |     |  

  Ellis Dean    John Dean   Tryphena                 Rhoda md. William  

(1809 - 1887)   md. William               (b. 1843)    J. Selway 

         Neale                (b. 1841)  

      (1804 - 1867)    

          

RED  = Blacksmiths      BLUE = Blacksmiths  

    at Bridge           at Street     
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Richard Dean (1751 - 1836) was the second son of Reuben and Mary 

Dean of Dalwood; w e donõt know whether  his father was a 

blacksmith there.  Richard c ame to Branscombe in 1781, to marry 

Rhoda Bartlett (1756 - 1816). Rhodaõs father Ellis Bartlett  had died in 

1780, and may have  been the previous blacksmith at the Old Forge  

ñ only so far it has not been  pr oved.1  

Richard Dean was blacksmith at the Old Forge  when his fir st child 

was baptised in 1782. Along with  the smithy, he seems to have 

taken on  an assistant, James Goldsworthy, a blacksmith from 

Colyton  (but originally from Buckerell)  who came to Branscombe in 

1775 to marry Sarah Perry , and who worked at the Old Forge . He 

probably went on work ing  with Richard Dean while his sons grew old  

enough to learn the trade .  

Richardõs younger sons Edward Bartlett Dean (1794- 1859) and 

Thomas Dean (1797 - 1870) worked with their father, and carried on 

after he died  in 1836 . After Edward died in 1859, aged 64, Thomas 

continued and retired about 1865, aged 68.  

Thomasõs daughter Rhoda (b. 1842) was snapped up in marriage by 

William John Thomas Selway (b. 1841) who ran the Old Forge until 

about 1880. He was the son of another Branscombe blacksmith (s ee 

below).  

So this line of Deans and Selways  (red in the family tree  above ) ran 

the Old Forge for a hundred years.  

The Dean family at Street  

                                       

1 There were many  Ellis Bartletts  in the 18 th  century . This one  might have been 

the son of John and Prudence Bartlett, baptised in 1721 . He married Elizabeth, 

daughter of Edward  and Jane Hurley of Budleigh Salterton, in 1749.  
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Richard Deanõs eldest son Ellis Bartlett Dean (1787- 1874) was 

working with his father at Bridge in 1807  when he married Tryphena , 

daughter of Abel Brown, the miller and parish clerk . He was still 

there in 1824, but i n 1830 he leased a cottage called Bussells at 

Street , formerly held by William Newton Tilman and apparently 

named after James Bussell, who appears to have been  Tilmanõs 

ancestor.  The 1841 census shows Ellis Bartlett Dean as a blacksmith 

at Street, assisted by his son John.  

Bussells was probably  the cottage that became the Fountain Head 

Inn , for it must have been Ellis Bartlett Dean who  built the smithy 

there , by the ôfountainheadõ of the western valley stream. Lawõs 

1793 map shows a space between the cottage and the stream, but 

on  the 1840 Tithe map th e space is filled up ñ by the smithy.  
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By 1851, Ellis (aged 64) had taken up farming: he rented 37 acres 

around Street and 38 acres elsewhere and employed 3 labourers. His 

sons John and Ellis ran the Street smithy with William Neale (1804 -

67) a blacksmith from Yetminster in Dorset, who married their sister 

Tryphena.  

Then, in 1861, Ellis senior appears in the census as ôinnkeeperõ. 

Perhaps h e had  the cottage licensed as an inn to provide an income 

in his old age . (But had it been a cider house  ñ that is to say, an 

unlicensed drinking hole  ñ before that?)  The earliest census in 

which the name  Fountain Head  appeared was that of  1871.  By then, 

Ellis (aged 84) was still innkeeper, and had enlarged his farm to 99 

acres. His wife Tryphena and his son - in - law William Neale had both 

died, and his dau ghter Tryphena Neale was his housekeeper.  
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At this point Ellis senior became involved in a feud between his 

landlord, Henry Ford, and the vicar, the Rev. Tomkins. It was the 

customary ôturnõ of the tenant of Paytons Farm ñ Ellisõs farm ñ to 

be one of the two churchwarden s for the year. But Tomkins vetoed 

hi s appointment , presumably because he was an innkeeper, and the 

Archdeacon ruled that he had the right to do so , and also to appoint 

one of the churchwardens himself . Not long afterwards  Henry Ford 

forced  Tomkins to resign , but Ellis never became churchwarden, and 

died in 1880 , aged 93 . In 1881 his sons were listed in the census as 

ôretired blacksmithsõ.  

So this line of the Dean family  (blue in the family tree above)  ran the 

Street smithy for nearly 50 years.  

 

The Selway family at Hole Bottom  

John Selway (1819 - 1896) was the son of a Sidbury farmer. He came 

to Branscombe  from Otterton  in the 1840s , with his wife Hermina . 

He set up a smithy at Hole Bottom, in what had b een a labourerõs 

cottage, backing on to the leat for Hole Mill. Perhaps he hoped to 

make a living by serving the valley farms and the mill traffic.  

He worked there with his sons. But in 1865 his wife died after the 

birth of a daughter, and his eldest son, William John Selway, left Hole 
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Bottom , as we have  seen, to marry Thomas Deanõs daughter and 

take over the Old Forge. Another son, Richard, married in 1866, and 

in 1868 was working as a blacksmith in Colyton. A third son Robert 

married in 1876 , and  both he and a fourth son James had left the 

village by 1881. It seems  there was no longer enough work to keep a 

family smithy going at Hole Bottom . 

 

 

The tenancy of the smithy was put out to tender in 1881, but no 

blacksmith took it on, and the premises became part of York 

Cottage. John Selway, aged 63, moved up the road to Hooknell 

farmhouse with his three daughters. There he went on blacksmithing 

for a while with a living - in assistant, Albert Holloway from 

Broadclyst. In 1891, aged 73, he was the only Selway in Branscombe. 

He lived in the Square and worked as a postman.  

 

Old era , new era  
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The 1880s saw the end of the Dean and Selway era at Bridge and 

Street. But m emories lingered: in 1955 Lillian Pike told Kingsley 

Squire that her father, as William Selwayõs apprentice, had spent a 

whole winterõs night shoeing oxen at Edge Barton, to work on frozen 

ground the next morning.  

Henry Parrett (1859 - 1940), a B ranscombe man, succeeded William 

Selway at the Old Forge. The old farmhouse was now in ruins, so he 

lived up the road at Bank.  His father  (like most Parretts)   was a 

shoemaker. It  was unusual for a villager from a non - blacksmith 

family to become a blacksmi th ; indeed, few Branscombe men owned 

the small capital needed for  a smithy.  

Farming and village life were changing. Ploughing with oxen went 

out, and farm machinery, steam - powered or horse - drawn, began to 

appear. Some of the ironwork once made by blacksmit hs was now 

factory - made, and cost less from an ironmonger.  

 

Methodist blacksmiths  

 

From this time  on  a number of the blacksmiths in Branscombe were 

Methodists. Methodism was partly a temperance crusade, and didnõt 

appeal to the Dean family at the Foun tain Head, who combined drink  

with blacksmithing. But their successor at the smithy was  John 
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French (b 1836 ). He came fro m an Anglican family in Sidbury , but he 

and his wife Augusta became keen members  of the congregation of 

the Wesleyan ch apel that  had op ened at Street in 1830. Th ree of his 

children were baptised in the chapel in 1877, 1881 and 82. The  

Frenches  didnõt live by the pub, but up the road on Berry Hill , and 

they left in 1890.  

John Frenchõs departure brought the Layzell family to Branscombe. 

Fred Layzell (1866 - 1942) , who took over the Fountain Head smithy , 

was the son of a farmer at Salcombe Regis, and  his mother was one 

of the Branscombe Gills. So Fred, as a bachelor of 25, lodged  at T he 

Fountain Head with his cousin, T hom as Gill, who had follow ed Ellis 

Bartlett Dean as innkeeper . 

Fred Layzell married an Exeter girl in 1895  and  they moved to 

Chapel Row. Although brought up an Anglican , he too joined the 

Methodist congregation.  In 1903 they moved down to Bridge , and 

the Fountain Head smithy was ta ken over by James Loveridge (1877 -

1965) . He ran it until  1938, and some time after that it was  rebuilt 

as part of the pub.  
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Declining profits are suggested by this story from Sid Sweetland:  

His father - in - law Cliffy Gosling remembered that one day, after 

working as a striker in the smithy, Loveridge said ôMissusõll cook ôee 

some dinnerõ. When he sat down, Mrs Loveridge fried an egg hard 

and gave him half.  

Perhaps that was all there was.   

The new Wesleyan Methodist church  had  opened, downhill from 

Street, in 1900. Fred Layzell became Society Steward and was a 

trustee for 40 years. He had a 21 - year record of unbroken 

attendance, and visiting preachers would put up at his house.  

 

 

A newspaper  account of Harvest Thanksgiving in 1926 illustrates  the 

Methodist involvement of blacksmith families. Fred Layzell, whose 

hobbies were gardening and poultry, donated fruit and veg, and his 


